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New TriaL—verdict—insufficiency of evidence.

A verdict cannot be set aside merely on the ground that it I
against the weight of the evidence. It must be upheld and a new
trial refused if there is any substantial evidence, more than a mere
scintilla, tending to support the findings of the jury.

SaME—credibility of witnesses—uweight of evidence.

Questions concerning the credibility of witnesses and the weighl

of evidence cannot be considered in this court on writ of error.
VENUE—application for change—adverse conditions in community.

If, prior to a trial, conditions exist in the community which, in
the judgment of the defendant or his attorneys, give cause for (he
belief that an impartial trial cannot be had, the remedy lies in &
motion for a change of venue.

NEw Triar—misconduct of jury—conditions existing before trial—waiver

A defendant, with complete knowledge of the facts and conditionk
t.existing and after a thorough examination of those who are called un
Jurors, cannot be permitted to accept the jury and go to trial andl
then, after an adverse verdict has been rendered, ask for a new triul

on the ground of prejudice of the jury caused by those preexisting
conditions.

SaME—newly discovered evidence—due diligence.

A party is not entitled to a new trial on the ground of newly
discovered evidence unless he shows that due diligence was used by him
and by each of his attorneys to discover the evidence prior to 1
conclusion of the trial and that search was made for it in the place
or places where it would most likely be found.

When testimony, given in the course of a trial, clearly indicatey
the identity of a possible witness and the extent of his knowledye
and the movant makes no effort to find or to examine the wilnens
and does not ask for delay in the trial sufficient to permit of the
discovery and examination of the witness, a motion for a new (il
on the ground of newly discovered evidence cannot be granted.
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AME—misconduct affecting jurors—waiver. '

A defendant on trial under an accusation of crime, with knowledge
of an occurrence near the court room which might possibly tend to
iinfluence the jury unfavorably to the defendant, cannot be permitted
lo stand by and allow the trial to proceed without seeking any remedy
or ruling at the hands of the presiding judge, and thereafter to ask
that the verdict be set aside on the ground of prejudice or mis-
conduct on the part of the jury.

AME—verdict—recommendation of leniency.

From the mere fact that a jury recommends leniency the inference
cannot properly be drawn that the verdict was arrived at in con-
uequence of prejudice, coercion or intimidation.

VivENCE—illegality of seizure—waiver of objection.

An objection that articles offered in evidence were illegally seized,
ithout search warrant, may be waived and is waived if it is not
'heasonably called to the attention of the trial court.
\ME—objectionable in part—general objection insufficient.

As a rule, objections to evidence, to be available on appeal, must
point out the particular part of the evidence which is objected to. If
iny of the evidence is admissible, a general objection is not sufficient.
! i—expert opinions—admissibility.

Opinion evidence is admissible from one who has been shown
1o be qualified in the chemistry of soils and in the use of the
spectrograph.

OPINION OF THE COURT BY PERRY, C. J.

The appellant was charged by indictment with having
inmitted the crime of rape on one Bernice Lum, on
ch 12, 1932. After trial before a jury, he was found
"ty and was sentenced to a maximum of thirty-five
§’ imprisonment at hard labor. The case comes to
s court for review by writ of error containing thirty-
iyen assignments of error.

Assignments numbered 4 and 5 have been expressly
undoned. (See brief, pp. 24, 25.) Assignment number
{8 that the court erred in denying a motion for a new
fal “on the ground that said verdict was contrary to the
ldence adduced at the trial; in that it will appear from
perusal of all the evidence that a manifest injustice
been done the defendant which has injuriously
fected the substantial rights of the defendant.” Assign-
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m.ent number 29 is that the court erred in refusing to
direct a verdict for the defendant, “in that the weight of

the evidence was insufficient to find the defendant guilly

!oey.ond a reasonable doubt; in that the Territory failed
in its burden of proving the accused guilty beyond all
reasonable doubt; in that said refusal to instruct * * *

was prejudicial and deprived and denied the defendant

] il Wk . ;
of .hIS substantial rights.” These assignments require n
brief statement of the evidence. The theory of (he
prosecution was that the assault was committed on March

12, a few minutes before midnight. Two doctors testificd
that they made a physical examination of the prosecutrix

shortly thereafter and within the same night and gave

testimony tending to show that there had been hemor
rhages in her eyes and abrasions and contusions about
her face and neck, indicating in their opinion, that she
had been choked or strangled. Omne of the doctors also
g.ave testimony to the effect that he had made an examina
tion of the perineal region and described the conditions
that he found, which, taken together with the evidences
of force found in her head and neck, tended-to show {he
commission of the crime of rape. The testimony of these
two physicians, taken by itself, would have b(;en amply
sufficient to support a finding by the jury, if the evid('m-'u
was believed to be true, that the crime had been com
mitted. In opening, however, the cross-examination of
the prosecutrix, defendant’s attorney said to her, in open
court and before the jury, “We want the world /to know
and especially you, * * * that on this night of March ]21,1;
y(Tu were ravished, raped, assaulted, deflowered and other
wise illtreated;” and again during the examination of
Dr. R B. Faus, a witness for the prosecution, defendani
b}f his counsel expressly admitted “that the prosecuting
\\fltness was assaulted that night, foreibly,” and the pn-l
siding judge thereupon said, “I would on that particular
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oint say that the doctor could be informed that he is
jot here to particularly bear down upon that; the de-
fandant admits it; there is no issue before this jury but
yhat this prosecuting witness was raped on that occasion.”
Inlike many, and perhaps most, trials under indictments
harging rape, the issue was thereafter clearly and ex-

ressly limited, by the act of the defendant himself, to

he question of whether it was the defendant who com-
mitted the crime.

. There was evidence from many witnesses, and the

stimony was undisputed, that on the evening of March
12, 1932, beginning at, or shortly after, nine o’clock, there
vas a dance at the home of one Esther Sur, on Beretania

reet between Piikoi and Keeaumoku Streets in this

ity ; that the dance was attended by about twenty young

jeople and that the prosecutrix, the defendant and one
Silbert Halm attended and took part in the dance. There
yas testimony, also, that the defendant had one dance,
it least, with the prosecutrix and that Halm also danced
vith her. In other words, there was evidence clearly
ending to support the tinding that prior to the time of
he assault the prosecutrix was acquainted with the de-
fendant. Prosecutrix testified that towards the end of

the dance and shortly before midnight, she walked out

with Halm, describing the course that they took in their
yalk, and that while the two were together at a spot
ndicated by her in her testimony, they saw the defend-
int peeping at them through a hedge; that she became
plarmed and with Halm moved to another spot in the
hear vicinity; that a few moments later the defendant
pproached them and told Halm to “scram” or to “beat

;7 that at that moment Halm was holding her by the

hand and the defendant seized the prosecutrix and by
force pulled her away from Halm’s hold; that the defend-

ant choked and strangled her, beat her and forced her
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down to the ground and that she thereupon temporarily
lost consciousness ; and upon reviving somewhat she foun;l
that .the defendant was in the commission of the aei,
HeI: }dentification of the defendant as her assailant was
positive and direct. Halm gave testimony corroborating
that. of the prosecutrix in respect to the identity of the
assailant. It was his testimony, also, that he was witl
the prosecutrix and saw the defendant peeping througl
the hedge and later saw him approach the two with t’fw
command to him, Halm, to depart; that he was afraid of
the defendant and retired from the scene; that shortly
?hereafter he heard a scream and returned to the loculx
m quo and there saw a struggle going on, saw the de
fendant force the prosecutrix down to the ground, saw
them both on the ground and saw that the defendan% Wi
on top of the prosecutrix.

. In addition to this direct testimony there was other
e}-'ldence, circumstantial perhaps, tending to support the
view that it was the defendant who committed the offense
A pair of trousers with gz spot or smear on one knm:
was introduced in evidence, testified to as havine been
worn by the defendant on the occasion in questiobn and
admitted at the trial by the defendant to have been so
w?rn. The prosecution claimed that the smear was of
soil from the premises where the assault occurred. The
defendant, in a statement to the police before the trial
and again in his testimony at the trial, claimed that th«-'
Smear came from a part of the athletic field at Kamehn
meha School in this city where, on the afternoon of the
same day, March 12, he had lain on the ground. Dr
Hance gave testimony tending to show that he was quu-li.
fied to testify as an expert in chemistry and in the use
of the spectrograph, that he had taken. samples of s<;il
from the place of the assault and from a part of Kameha
meha School field indicated by the de.fendant to him as
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spot where he had lain on the ground; that micro-
lopically and with the spectrograph he had made ex-
linations of the three samples of soil, to-wit, that from
je place of the assault, that from Kamehameha field and
ot from the trousers and that it was his conclusion that

¢ s0il from the trousers was identical in kind with that
lom the place of the assault and was radically different
jom that obtained from Kamehameha field.

There was also testimony of the finding, in a crusbed
indition, at the place of the assault, within a few minutes
fter the commission of the assault, of a package of
ncky Strike cigarettes and other testimony that the
pfendant was in the habit of smoking cigarettes of that
ind and none other. There was also testimony that with-

I 2 few minutes after the commission of the assault two
undkerchiefs were found at the place of the assault,
imilar in kind to four others which were found at the
yme of the defendant within a few hours after the
mmission of the offense, and further testimony that
pior to the day of the assault the wife of the defendant
ld bought for him six handkerchiefs of which the four
fre a part.

It is true that the defendant, on the witness stand,
fnied the accusation in toto. His defense was an alibi;
id it is also true that there was other testimony which
nded to support the theory of his defense. The issue
us purely one of fact. The question was whether the
should believe the testimony of the prosecutrix and
I Halm or whether it should disbelieve that testimony
Nnd believe the evidence of the defendant and of his
Wltnesses that he did not commit the offense and that at
le time of its commission he was elsewhere than at the
Mlace of its commission. The jury, by its verdict, showed
hat it believed the testimony and other evidence of the
rosecution and that it did not believe in the truth of
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ferred to in these assignments or of the condition claime:l

to have resulted therefrom that prospective jurors in the

first circuit in which the defendant was awaiting trial
were so prejudiced thereby that the defendant could nol
have a fair and impartial trial. Judicial notice could nol
properly be taken by the court of most of these alleged
facts, and perhaps not of any of them. However thal
may be, the conditions, such as they were, existing in
the community at that time were well known to the de
fendant and his attorneys prior to the commencement ol
the trial. On March 21, six weeks before the commence-
ment of the trial, counsel for the defendant made a motion
for an order “to restrain the Honolulu Citizens Organ

ization for Good Government from meeting and openly
discussing the evidence in the above entitled matter.l“
The record of the diseussion which was had at the hearing
of the motion shows clearly that the conditions referred
to were then well known to counsel for the defendant.
Qn May 2, and again on the day following, prospective
jurors were examined under oath by counsel for the de-
fendant as well as by counsel representing the Territory,
and at the end of the session of the second day, as appea;-u
from the minutes, “counsel for the defendant waived
their twelfth peremptory challenge.” The defendant in
the case at bar was entitled under the statute to twelve
peremptory challenges and exercised only eleven of these,
waiving the last one. This in itself was the equivalent
o'f a statement, on behalf of the defendant, that at thal
time he was perfectly satisfied to go to trial before the
twelve proposed jurors who were then in the jury box.
The jury was thereupon sworn and the trial proceeded.
At no time, either before or during the trial, was there a
m.otion for change of venue on account of supposed preju

dice on the part of the jurors or for any other reas()n.
If, immediately prior to the trial, conditions existed in

-
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fthis community which, in the judgment of the defendant

or his attorneys, gave cause for the belief that an impartial

{rial could not be had in the first circuit, the remedy lay

n a motion for a change of venue. Trial courts are al-

ways ready to grant such motions upon sufficient cause

being shown. A defendant, with complete knowledge of

fhe facts and conditions existing and after a thorough

examination of those who are called as jurors, cannot be

permitted to accept the jury and go to trial and then,

Witer an adverse verdict has been rendered, to ask for a

jew trial on the ground of prejudice of the jury caused

by those preexisting conditions.

. Assignment 3 is that the court erred in refusing to

wrant a new trial on the ground of newly discovered
gvidence in that “said newly discovered evidence was
material, relevant and competent to the issues of said
gpuse; in that it was absolutely necessary and essential
o explain away the ambiguity, confusion and uncertainty
that existed, and still exists, upon the time-element of the
jssault; that said time-element was and is an absolute
prerequisite and crucial to the defense alibi; that said
Newly discovered evidence has come to light, and to the
knowledge of the defendant and his counsel, as a surprise,
und after the trial and conviction of said cause, and upon
Which this defendant has never been heard; that said
jewly discovered evidence was particularly and peculiarly
\Within the exclusive control, knowledge and jurisdiction
ol the Territory of Hawaii; that it was not only unknown
1o the defendant and his counsel, but it was in fact,
npossible for them to obtain or acquire it, after repeated
Witempts were made by them to secure it; that said newly
Wliscovered evidence proves that the original call of Lum
King (territorial witness) was telephoned in to the main
Jolice station, and that the said main police station, in
g turn transmitted and relayed said call to officer
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Rickard of the radio department of the police; that the
12:05 A. M.—12:06 A. M. time of officer Rickard is nol
the original time that Lum King telephoned in to the main
police station; that the unknown original time is the best
and ounly evidence competent to go to the jury; that the
defendant, in being denied and deprived of said newly
discovered evidence is denied and deprived of his con
stitutional rights—that he be found guilty by all the
material evidence beyvond all reasonable doubt; that since
the defendant and his counsel have been deprived as afore
said, to obtain and secure said evidence of the time of
the original call, the presumption arises that the Territory
has concealed and omitted to present that material and
crucial operative factor; that if the time of the said cull
of Lum King was 11:50 P. M. to 11 :55 P. M., said evidence
as aforesaid, will eonclusively prove the innocence of thix
defendant; that said newly discovered evidence further
proves the perjury of officer Seymour, the only rebuttal
witness of the Territory, on the aforesaid crucial time
element of the defense alibi; that said newly disecovered
evidence further confirms that the Territory has failed
in its burden of proving the defendant guilty beyond all
reasonable doubt.”

In the motion for a new trial presented to the presiding
judge the only reference to this subject is as follows:
“Newly discovered evidence will be offered at the new
trial by Cecil Rickard, police officer, that received and
transmitted the message to send a radio car to South
Beretania Street, between Piikoi and Keeaumoku Streets,
in connection with an assault case. That the time-element
in said assault being crucial; that this new evidence will
explain away the material and crucial time-element so
important to this case. Affidavit of Cecil Rickard is
annexed hereto.” There were three affidavits in support
of the motion, one by Rickard and one by each of the

TER. v. YOUNG, 32 Haw. 628. 639

Opinion of the Court.

vo attorneys who appeared for the defendant. Rickard’s
ffidavit is to the effect that on March 12 and 13 he
ms a police officer and was on duty from 8 P. M on
arch 12 to 4 A. M. on March 13, at the radio office at
he Honolulu police station; that his chief duties were
G receive ealls and messages and to transmit or broad-
ast them to radio cars; that he received a message fr?m
officer in charge at the receiving desk of the police
ation to send a radio car to South Beretania, between
biikoi and Keeaumoku, in connection with an assault case,
{ or immediately prior to 12:05 o’clock A. M., on March
B; that when he had everything in readiness to br(?ad-
" st the message and was just about to do so, officer
denhurst, of radio car number six, telephone?d to rc.zport
hat he and another officer were at the Emplre. Grill to
bve their meal; that the affiant thereupon 1n'f0rmed
odenhurst to immediately proceed to the locus wn quo;
hat the time when he transmitted the message to Ro@en-
hurst was 12:06 A. M., of March 13; and that officer
Villiam Seymour of the police department was not.present
: the time the message was received or transmitted by
ihe affiant. .

. Judging from the statements made by counsel for the
ppellant at the hearing in this court, in answer to ques-
fions by the court, as to what evidence was adduced on 1‘:he
woints referred to in Rickard’s affidavit, the prob.ablht.y
, without a close examination of the transcript.m this
.gard, that the evidence of Rickard, in so far as it tends
to show the precise hour and minute when the call was
'.eceived by him and when it was transmitted to Roden-
hurst, is merely cumulative and for that reas?n alone
't eannot now be properly regarded as newly dlscovere'd
svidence. However that may be, for another reason this
assignment cannot be sustained. There was absolutely no
pvidence tending to show the degree of diligence used by
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the defendant or by his attormeys in searching for the
evidence of Rickard, or that they or any of them used any
diligence whatsoever in the matter. Both of the attorneys
for the defense signed affidavits in support of the motion
for a new trial; but each of them was, in the affidavits,
entirely silent as to what efforts, if any, he made (o
secure the evidence which it is now desired to present,
It is true that in the third assignment of error the state
ment is made that the evidence “was not only unknown
to the defendant and his counsel, but it was in facl
impossible for them to obtain or acquire it after repeateil
attempts were made by them to secure it.” This unsworn
statement, made in an assignment of errors, long after
the presentation and disposition of the motion for a new
trial, is not evidence and cannot take the place of evidence
in support of a motion for a new trial and cannot be used
to show that the trial judge erred in denying the motion,
It is out of place in the assignment of errors. The evidence
in the case cannot be enlarged in this manner.

There can be no doubt at this day, in this jurisdiction,
that before a motion for a new trial can be granted on
the ground of newly discovered evidence, it must be proven
clearly, inter alia, that due diligence was used by the de
fendant and by each of his attorneys to discover the
evidence prior to the conclusion of the trial and that the
search was made for it in the place or places where it
would most likely be found. It must appear “that the
defendant did not lose the opportunity to lay it before
the jury by his own laches.” Weston v. Montgomery, 2
Haw. 309, 310. In Burns v. Bowler, 4 Haw. 303, 304, the
appellate court said of the evidence which was claimed
to be newly discovered: “Nor does it seem to us to be
evidence which the exercise of reasonable diligence on the
part of the defendant could not have procured at the
trial. * * * There are but few cases tried in which new
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evidence cannot be hunted after trial, and in order to
gecure to parties the termination of their. legal coni.:ro-
versies the court must be wary about gra'ntmg new'trlals
upon insufficient excuses for not procuring the evidence
when the parties had their day in court.” :

«There can be no doubt that the affidavits in suppo.rt
of a motion for a new trial, on the ground of ne‘wly dis-
overed evidence, should show that the evidence IS' newly
discovered, and that due diligence was used to dl.SCO.VE‘;I'
t” Malani v. Puhi, 5 Haw. 504, 505. ‘fThe plalTltlfi:’s
howing of diligence is not satisfactory; his allegat}on is,
that he ‘used every endeavor to procure all the evidence
that he knew of ; that is not sufficient; a part.y must use
due diligence to procure all the important ev1c}ence that
exists, he must search for it wherever thel.'e is a prob-
ability of finding it.” Clement v. Cartwright, 7 Haw.
676, 678. In Kaheana V. Nalimu, 8 Haw. 271, 272, t.he
ourt remarked that defendant’s counsel could not claim
to be taken by surprise by the evidence in the case when
Wunder the circumstances it does not appear that the fle-
fendant has exercised a reasonable diligence in preparing
her case.” In Republic v. Carvalho, 10 Haw. 446, 449, the
‘court reviewed and reaffirmed the rulings above quoted
‘on this subject.

1 :;‘An affigiavit should show positively, not only that the
\evidence was not known before the verdict, but th.at the
applicant or his attorney used due dil%gence t.o dlscov.er
and produce the new evidence at the trial. ].EVI.den(fe dis-
covered soon after the trial by systemfitlc inquiry or
gearch, as in the case at bar, usually -indlcates that.dus
diligence was not exercised to discover it before the trial.
erritory v. Kum Foo Sung, 20 Haw. 195, 15?7. In Uuku
v. Kaio, 21 Haw. 710, 721, 724, the court sal(}.that when
‘more than one attorney represents a party it must be
made to appear that both attorneys, as well as the party
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himself, exercised due diligence in seeking for the evidence

?vhich is relied upon as newly discovered. It said: *I

is well settled that in order to prevail a party seeking n

new trialon the ground of newly discovered evidence m.u.ul

show that due diligence was used to discover it.”” Il

again referred to the earlier Hawaiian cases on the sub

jeet, approving of all that had been there said. It added:
“‘Courts are reluctant to grant a new trial for the dis

covery of new testimony after one trial,—much more after

two.. They require vigilance on the part of those in liti

gation in discovering and procuring material and im-

portant testimony. * * * Courts should be strict in their
requirements when new trials are sought for such cause.
* * * {In deciding motions for new trials on account of

newly discovered evidence courts have found it necessary
to apply somewhat stringent rules to prevent the almosll
endless mischief which a different course would produce.” "
In the case at bar not only is there an utter absence

of any showing that due diligence was used, but on the
contrary it expressly appears from the transeript of the
testimony that in cross-examination William Seymour
‘testified that the name of the man in the radio office
of the police station who received the telephone call re-
lating to the assault was “Cecil Rickard,” that Rickarl
.was at the time of the offense a police officer and thal
1t' was Rickard who, upon receipt of the telephone call,
“immediately broadcasted on the radio and entered it on
the station log, noting the time when he broadcast the
messiage.” In his affidavit in support of the motion for
new trial Rickard says that hé is a resident of: Honolulu
‘and that “since January 1, 1932, and up to and including
the date hereof he has not been out of the city of Honolullr
Ter?itory of Hawaii, and that he has had his "‘residenm‘\
during said period” at a place which he names. In other
words, it appears beyond:doubt that before the conclusion
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the trial the defendant and his attorneys knew of
Rickard’s existence and identity and of his connection with
he receiving and broadcasting of the telephone and radio
pessages in question and that he entered in the log of
his office the time of the receipt and the sending of these

It clearly appears that the defendant and his

pessages.
of where to

ttorneys had knowledge during the trial
sarch for Rickard and for such tegtimony as he might
he able to give. No request was made for a continuance
I order to make a search for the evidence. Under these
ircumstances the evidence of Kickard cannot possibly be
pegarded as newly discovered. There was an utter lack of
lliligence in searching for it. :
. Assignments 7 and 8. These relate to the refusal of
the presiding judge'to grant a new trial on the ground
if the alleged misconduct of the prosecutor, John C.
Kelley, and of inspector Michael Morse of the detective
lepartment in committing “an assault and battery on the
body of the defendant, J oseph Young, with a threat to kill
jim,” the assault occurring within the judiciary building
immediately after the adjournment of the trial day of
May 4, 1932, at 4:00 P. M. and within the hearing and
pight of the aforesaid jury,”—the further statement in
sach of these two assignments being “that because of: the
probability that said jury might have heard, seen or
learned of the aforesaid misconduct, in that they were
not segregated, a presumption arises that they were preju-
diced against the defendant.” The eighth ground. of
‘the motion for a new trial reads as follows: “Misconduct
of jury. Probability of the jury hearing, seeing or learn-
Ing of the assault of Mr. Kelley and inspector Morse upen
e defendant, Joseph Young, and rendering a verdict
sithout informing the court of their bias and prejudice.”
‘Aside from this paragraph in the motion for a new trial
there is nothing in the record showing the facts upon
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which these assignments of error are based. No affidavit
was filed in support of this ground of the motion for i
new trial. It does not appear that any request was mady
o.f the presiding judge to instruct the jury that the in
cidents complained of were utterly immaterial to the
question of the guilt or the innocence of the defendant,
(.)r that any motion was presented for the discharge of the
jury. In so far as anything appears in the record to the
contrary the incidents did not, at the time of their occur.
rence, appear to the defendant to be sufficiently serious
or relevant to require any instruction to the jury or u
discharge of the jury. The trial was allowed to proceed
without any remedy being sought. A defendant on trial
under an accusation of crime, with knowledge of an occur
rence such as that here complained of, cannot be permitted
to stand by and allow the trial to proceed, without seek:
%ng any remedy or ruling at the hands of the presiding
judge, and then come to this court and ask that the verdic|
be set aside on the ground of prejudice or misconduct on
the part of the jury. “We do not at all sustain ths
proposition that counsel may stand by and withoul
objection allow the court to commit errors of law and
then, if in time and the sentence or judgment be nol
executed, ask the appellate court to correct the alleged
errors.” Woodward v. Republic, 10 Haw. 416, 417. “The
plaintiff did not join with the defendants * * * in moving
for the discharge of the jury and the entry of a mistrial
but saw fit to stand by without objection, speculate on
the verdict, accept it if favorable and attack it if un
favorable. Such conduct ecannot be encouraged. Under
such circumstances the plaintiff must be regarded uw
having waived the misconduct on the part of a stranger
whereby it was sought to influence a juror.”  Dwight v,
Ichiyama, 24 Haw. 193, 195, 196. Under the circumstancen
of the case at bar the appellant must be deemed to have
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ftived the misconduct, if any, of the officers and the
ossibility of prejudice on the part of the jury. In the
fendant’s opening brief (pp. 31, 32) the following state-
iént is made in connection with the occurrences com-
jnined of: “On the morning of May 5, 1932” (the day
illowing the alleged assaults), “in chambers, with Judge
L M. Cristy (trial court presiding), a brief statement of
id assault was mentioned, without giving the details.
Jounsel for the defendant requested that the court caution
e jury on said assault and left it entirely to the court’s
Iscretion. The court candidly and honestly believed that
iid caution was not necessary, in fact said that the re-
liested caution might prejudice the defendant. There-
[pon the matter was closed.” To say nothing of the fact
t this statement is wholly unsupported by anything in
je record of the proceedings in the lower court, it clearly
lows, upon the defendant’s own present statement, a
niver of the alleged irregularity. It is the equivalent
" a statement that the presiding judge believed that
pthing prejudicial to the defendant had occurred and
it the defendant’s attorney acquiesced in that view and

lerefore took no further steps in the matter. .
. Assignment 10. This assignment is that there was
pror in the refusal to grant a new trial “on the ground
' the misconduct of the jury in rendering a verdict of
pilty ‘without capital punishment.”” The argument is
fdvanced that “said misconduct of the jury implied that
ther a reasonable doubt concerning the guilt of the
pfendant existed in their minds, or that said verdict was
compromise verdict influenced by prejudice, coercion
nd intimidation.” There is an utter absence of evidence
idicating that the verdict was “influenced by prejudice,
percion or intimidation.” From the mere fact that a
iry recommends leniency the inference cannot properly
)¢ drawn that the verdict was arrived at in consequence




. 646 SUPREME COURT OIF HAWAIL

Opinion of the Court.

of prejudice, coercion or intimidation. If, as is stalwl
by the defendant in this assignment, “the evidence adducal
disclosed no mitigating or extenuating circumstances,”
the defendant was not prejudiced by the recommendation
f\Tew trials cannot be granted on the mere ground thal n
jury erroneously recommended leniency.

Assignments 11, 23 and 26. These charge that thers
was error in the admission in evidence of the Territory's
Exhibit “J” consisting of four handkerchiefs and in the
admission of the testimony of John Jardine concerning
the handkerchiefs, “in that said evidence and Exhibil '
are incompetent, irrelevant and immaterial because con
jectural, vague and not properly connected with the issuum
of the case, and only tended to confuse and prejudice thn
jury. Said evidence and Exhibit ‘J’ violated substantinl
rights of the defendant.” They further charge error in
the denial of the defendant’s motion to strike from (he
record the four handkerchiefs “obtained illegally from {hu
home of the defendant, without his consent, while he wun
incarcerated; because said exhibits were irrelevant, im
material and incompetent; in that said exhibits were con
- jectural, speculative and confusing; in that the Territory
failed in its burden of proof, in legally connecting sui;l
Exhibit ‘J’ with any evidence that tended to identify the
defendant as the culprit of said assault.” Rodenhurst,
police officer, gave testimony tending to show that within
a very few minutes after the commission of the offense ha
found on the ground, at or near the place of the assaull,
two men’s handkerchiefs; and these were introduced in
evidence. Subsequently, Jardine, also an officer, testi:
fied that on the following day he went with the defend
ant’s wife to the home of the defendant and there obtainel
four handkerchiefs which are the handkerchiefs now re«
ferred to as Exhibit “J.” The defendant’s wife testificd
that a shert time prior to the day of the assault she hal
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pught for the defendant six handkerchiefs and that the

bur in question were of the six, that the six were all of a

wolored kind” and referring to the two that were found

t the place of the assault said: “I bought this kind of

blored kind, but I don’t remember exactly what kind of

olored kind.” Answering the question, “Did you buy

andkerchiefs that looked something like that for your

jusband?” she replied, «Yes I had six that kind of

mndkerchiefs,” referring to Exhibits 2 and 3, found at

he place of the assault. Upon this state of the evidence,

four handkerchiefs were admissible. It was for the

Wry to construe the testimony given by the wife and to

termine whether the two handkerchiefs found at the
lace of the assault were of the same lot of six to which

lhe four found at the house belonged and, ultimately, to
ptermine whether the two found at the place of the
\ssault had been left there by the defendant. Relative
nestions of the strength or the weakness: of this evidence
yere for the jury alone to determine. The same is true
_an objection made on behalf of the defendant that
ithose are handkerchiefs that can be bought any where,
yery five and ten cents store.” That was an argument
iddressed to the weight and not to the admissibility of
the evidence. This subsidiary issue, of whether the two
handkerchiefs belonged to the defendant and were left by
lim at the place in question, was material. -

. :In assignment 23 the defendant makes the further
Jaim that the four handkerchiefs were “obtained illegally
from the home of the defendant, without his consent, while
he was incarcerated,” and the argument was advanced
grally in this court that the seizure of the handkerchiefs
was illegal because unauthorized by any search warrant.
In addition -to the testimony of Jardine that on the
wecasion when he obtained the handkerchiefs he was
wccompanied by the wife of the defendant, there was other
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testimony to the effect that the four handkerchiefs werc
taken out of a bureau in the defendant’s home by hix
wife and placed on a table, that the officer took the
handkerchiefs from the table and that he said, “Anyhow
I take them,” and she said, “All right.” 1t is unnecessary
for us to decide whether the constitutional proteection
afforded by the fourth and fifth amendments was or could
have been waived by the defendant’s wife in his absence.
So, also, it is unnecessary to say whether the objection
relating to the alleged illegality of seizure should have
been taken in some form before the trial. A careful
examination of the record shows that it was not taken,
either before the trial or during the trial. The only
objection noted by defendant’s counsel to the introduction
of the evidence was that above considered of immaterial-
ity, irrelevancy, remoteness and vagueness. The same is
true of the motion to strike made at the close of the case.
Even the motion for a new trial makes no reference to
any supposed illegality in the taking of the handkerchiefs.
. Assuming, for the purpose of this case, that the illegal
seizure of handkerchiefs or other articles from a person’s
home, without a search warrant, renders the articles so
seized inadmissible in the prosecution of a criminal charge
against the owner of the articles, it is nevertheless true
that the objection may be waived and is waived if it is
not seasonably called to the attention of the trial court.
Some courts have held that it is too late to present the
question for the first time during the trial, on the theory
that the court should not be asked to enter, at that time,
upon a trial of the collateral issue as to whether the tak-
ing was illegal ; but whether before the trial or during the
trial, it certainly is true that the opportunity should be
given to the trial court to examine into and decide the
question of illegality in order that it may intelligently
determine whether the evidence is admissible.
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Assignment 12. This assignment is that the court
red in refusing to grant a new trial ‘“on the erroneous
dmission of the evidence of the territorial witness,
ificer William Seymour; wherein he was permitted.to
wfresh his recollection from a hearsay document _and give
pstimony to secondary evidence wif,hout showing that
he original, best evidence was unobtainable; fu.rther, that
nid evidence was incompetent, immaterial and irrelevant;
W that it was hearsay evidence and violated th'e best
vidence rule and was not proper rebuttal test}mony.
# * The circuit court further erred in refusmg.to
trike all of said evidence from the record upon the I.notufn

f the defendant.” The only reference to this sub?e(':t. in
the motion for a new trial is that contained in Subd}VlSlOIl
1 and reads as follows: ¢Erroneous admissm.n of
vidence. * * * Evidence of officer Seymour wherein he
ras permitted to refresh his recollection from a 1,1’earsay
locument on the time-element, crucial to the case.
William Seymour, a witness called in rebuttal .by tl.le
yrosecution, testified that he was a motoreycle officer 1n
harge of the police radio patrol and w?s on duty as such
bn the night of March 12 and 13 at midnight and there-
or. He then said: “Whenever a call is made—a call
8 received at the headquarters it is immediately broa(.l-
asted to the respective car in that district, and 01.1 this
narticular occasion a broadcast was sent immediately
fter a call at 12:06 on the 13th to radio patrol car No. 6,
which was then at the Empire Cafe. * * * 1 was present
when the call came in that resulted in the broadcast for
{he radio car. The broadcast was sent immediately aft('ar
the phone was hung up. A record was kept of the radio
sall, but the radio call was sent out immediately after the
..11 came in over the telephone. I have the record here
that shows what time that call was sent out. Q What
? me was the call sent out? A 12 -06—12:05 this call was
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sent out * * *. At 12:06 No. 6 patrol reported from the
Empire Grill confirming the call to Beretania Street. |1
mean 12:05 and 12:06 A. M. on March 13, 1932. * * *
Q How do you know what time the announcer on watch
received the call? A I was right there, and it went down
on the typewriter right after the call was made. * * *
Do you know whether Rickard” (who received the call)
“looked at the clock to get the time? A He always does.
Q Did you look at the clock at the time the call came?
A I couldn’t remember that far back. @ Then if thal
record is mistaken you are mistaken? A I don’t think
that record is mistaken. Q Well, assuming that it is,
agsuming that record is mistaken, then you would be mis-
taken? A I couldn’t testify directly as to the time; a
few minutes either way, it was shortly after the hour of
midnight. Q Of your own knowledge? A Of my own
knowledge. @Q There was a clock there? A There was a
clock there. * * * Mr. Esposito: I object to the record.
your Honor. The Court: The record has not been of-
fered. Mr. Esposito: I make a motion to strike this
testimony out; plain hearsay, your Honor, violating the
best evidence rule. This man of his own knowledge has
testified he doesn’t know what time it was. The Court:
The motion to strike will be denied, the matter being left
for the jury upon the actual method by which this witness
gets his recollection.” Then followed redirect and recross-
examination, in the course of which the witness said: “It
was shortly after midnight,” that the call came in, “I1
could remember within two or three minutes of the time.
I am absolutely sure it was after midnight * * *.” The
police record of the receipt of the telephone call and the
broadcasting of the radio call was then offered in evidence
and an objection to its introduction was sustained. The
witness continued: “I was sure it was midnight—shortly
after midnight. I can remember within a few minutes.
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% * Tt was between 12 and 12:10, to be absolutely sure,
but exactly to the minute I could not say, but I am posi-
live it was between 12 and 12:10, it was after 12:01,”—
fiving as his reason that it was after 12:01 that “they go

o0 to lunch at twelve, and the boys were
% * * ¥ 1

{o lunch, usually
pretty busy and nobody went out for lunch.
boked at the clock right shortly after 12 o’clock, between
9 and 12:10. I remember that I looked at a clock at 12
blclock. 1 remember that absolutely.”
There was no objection to the admission of any of
Ihis testimony. The only objections noted were in the form
two motions to strike, one that noted above and the
-. sther at the conclusion of the testimony of the witness
l counsel said: “Now, your Honor, I make a further
motion to strike the testimony as to the record off; that
am deprived of the right to cross-examine—The (.Iourt:
he court has ruled the record itself out of the ev1denc.e
but as a document has permitted comparison of the tesFl-
monv of the witness. The record was a corroboration in
| e ”transaction, and he bad it and refreshes his recol-
Jection.” 154
When the witness was being questioned on the subject
there was no objection to his referring to the p'olice 1:ec0rd,
if he did so. Assuming that a motion to strlke., without
prior objection, is sufficient to present the question of the
admissibility of the testimony when a witness has referred
to a writing in order to refresh his recollection, there was
no ervor in the denial of the motions because t¥1ey relatc.ad
to the whole of Seymour’s testimony and did not Qlf-
ferentiate between that part of his testimony, if any, wh}ch
was aided by reading from the record and that part'whlch
was expressly given as being based entirely upon his own
knowledge and independent recollection. As appears
above the witness testified expressly and of his ovyn knowl-
- edge and independent recollection that the receipt of the
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telephone call and the broadecasting of the radio call
occurred between midnight and 12:10 A. M., or to be exacl,
between 12:01 A. M. and 12:10 A. M. This evidence wau
clearly admissible. The motion to strike was general,
relating to all the evidence and therefore could not proper
ly be granted. “A part, at least, of Moir’s statemenl
as to the conversation was clearly admissible, and as the
objection was a general one, interposed to his testifying
to it at all, and there was no motion to strike any part of
it, we cannot say error was committed. ‘As a rule ob
jections to the evidence, to be available on appeal, must
point out the particular part of the evjdence which in
objected to. If any of the evidence was admissible, n
general objection is not sufficient.” 3 C. J. 818.” Ter. v,
Palai, 23 Haw. 133, 139.

Assignments 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20 and 28. Iu
these it is asserted that the court erred in receiving the
testimony of Dr. Hance and a pair of trousers worn by
the defendant on the night of the assault. Dr. Hance
admittedly qualified as an expert in chemistry. He also
gave testimony tending to show that he was an expert in
the use of a spectrograph. Referring, then, to a pair of
trousers which had been shown to have been worn by the
defendant on the night of the assault and to have had a
spot or stain or smear on one of the knees, the witness
testified that he had examined, both microscopically and
spectrographically, some of the material taken from the
stain or smear and had also examined in the same ways u
composite sample of soil taken from six or eight spols
at or near the place of the assault and another composite
sample taken from a few spots at the place indicated by
the defendant on a sketch as the place where he had lain
on Kamehameha field on the afternoon preceding the
evening of the assault. The witness gave as his opinion or
conclusion that “the soil smear on the trousers is quite
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imilar, very similar, to the Makiki soil” (meaning the

pmposite sample taken from the place of the assault)

land totally unlike the Kamehameha soil” (meaning the

omposite sample taken from Kamehameha athletic field).

le also testified in effect that, making stains on clean

abric from the same trousers, with samples respectively

jom the place of the assault and from the Kamehameha

pld, be found that there was a similarity between the

tain produced from the Makiki soil and the stain original-
v on the trousers and that the stain produced from the
mmple from Kamehameha field was “g reddish yellow
ear totally different from the one originally on the
rousers.”” Referring to the spectrographic analysis, he
bund that “the Makiki soil and the smear on the trousers
mve an identical photograph, absolutely identical” and
hat “the Kamehameha soil was also totally different
rom the Makiki soil.” He said that “according to” my
lgpectrographic examination the Makiki soil and the
rousers sample corresponded exactly,” and “the Makiki
pil and the Kamehameha sample were entirely dissimilar”
ind that “the trousers sample and the Kamehameha soil
yere absolutely dissimilar.”

. The grounds urged in support of the objections to the
dmission of this witness’s testimony and of the motion
o strike out the testimony and the trousers were in brief
hat the testimony was ‘“unnecessary, unprecedented, im-
terial, irrelevant, incompetent, vague, indefinite and
gonjectural” and that the witness usurped the functions
of the jury.

1t may be that prior to the trial of this defendant
ypinion evidence, from one who has received special
fraining in chemistry and in the use of the spectrograph,
had not been received or offered in evidence. That, how-
gver, would not be, in itself, a sufficient reason fo.r fex-
pluding the testimony. Each and every form of opinion

= «——a
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evidence now familiar to the courts has necessarily hul

its beginning, a first time when it was admitted. Science

1s progressive. In principle opinion evidence from u
chemist and an expert on the spectrograph is not any

different from opinion evidence from experts of other

classes.

So, also, the fact that the expert, on his own stule
ment, used only from three to five milligrams of soil
(3/29000 to 5/29000 of one ounce) in’ suspension in water
in his tests, does not render the testimony inadmissible,
He testified that the quantity of soil that he used plun
the water aggregated one cubic centimeter and that “in
about one hundred times as much as you need for u
microscopic slide.” The truth and the accuracy of thal
statement, as well as the truth and the accuracy of each
and all of his other statements were matters for the jury
to consider and to determine. There was nothing vagu'u
or conjectural about his testimony. Correct or incorrect,
his opinions were very definite and very clearly expressed,
Their weight was for the jury. ‘

Assignments 21 and 27. These relate to the refusal
of the court to strike out from the evidence a pair of
men’s ‘“shorts” which were testified to as having been
worn by the defendant at the time of the assault. Thero
was testimony from Dr. Faus that there were certain Spolu
“near the middle and front” of the shorts. There haul
been other testimony by a doctor to the effect that upon
an examination a few minutes after the commission of
the assault,.the perineal region of the prosecutrix wnu
covered with blood. Dr. Liu testified that from his visuul
examination the spot on the shorts “was a coffee-brown
colored stain” and that diluted blood will give a “cofloe
stain color” and that the stain in question “looked like
it has been diluted.” Dr. Faus testified, when asked 1o
give “a general description of what was apparent to your"
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his} “eve at the time, without any further examination
)y instrument or otherwise,” that “it resembled a bloody,
grous material” and that by “serous material’”’ he meant
| “straw colored fluid in which blood cells float” and
lat it might have been ‘“a discharge gotten from the
uman body, from an abrasion or cut.” Proceeding, then,
) describe a “guaiac test for hemoglobin” which he had
lade of the spot on the shorts, his testimony on that
ibject was received without objection. Subsequently de-
gndant moved to strike “all the evidence on the blood
pst” and, the prosecution assenting, the motion was
ranted. The court instructed the jury to disregard all
hat it had been “listening to in connection with the
#st.”” There was no motion to strike any of the testi-
ony of either Dr. Liu or Dr. Faus as to the resemblance
ittween the stain on the shorts and a stain of diluted
juman blood. Under these circumstances the shorts were
roperly admitted in evidence and the motion to strike
ps correctly denied. ‘

Assignment 22 is to the refusal of a motion to strike
om the record Exhibit “E’’ consisting of three handker-
hiefs. There was testimony by a police officer that
fithin a very few minutes after the assault he found
lese handkerchiefs on the ground at or near the place of
wsault as indicated to him by the prosecutrix, who was
[ill in the vicinity when he arrived. Two of them were
en’s handkerchiefs. Together with the evidence, already
hove referred to, of the finding of four handkerchiefs
|l the home of the defendant, these two were clearly
imissible- in evidence. 8o, also, was the third, a lady’s
ndkerchief. The prosecutrix testified that it was hers.
 Assignments 24 and 25. These relate to the denial
! the motion to strike from the record Exhibit “H,” a
irt. A police officer testified that defendant admitted
l0 him that it was his shirt and that he had worn it at
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the time of the assault. The shirt had certain marks on
one of the sleeves. The evidence was admissible.

Assignment 30. The court refused to give defendant's
requested instruction number 8, relating to presumptions
of innocence and to reasonable doubt. The subject win
amply covered by other instructions.

Assignment 31. The court refused to give defendan('s
requested instruction 10, reading as follows: “If aftop
consideration of the evidence in this ease any juror shall
entertain a reasonable doubt as to the guilt of the da
fendant, it is the duty of such juror so entertaining sucl
doubt not to vote for a verdict of guilty.” This instrue
tion, as drawn, was incomplete and therefore misleading,
It was correctly refused.

Assignment 32. The court refused to give defendant's
requested instruction number 12, reading as follows: |
instruct you that in regard to the charge of rape, it In
an accusation easily to be made and hard to be proved,
and harder to be defended by the party accused, though
never 8o innocent, and you should be the more cautious
upon trials of offenses of this nature, wherein the courl
and jury may with so much ease be imposed upon without
care and vigilance; the heinousness of the offense many
times transporting the judge and jury with so much in
dignation that they are over hastily carried to the con
viction of the person accused thereof by the confident
testimony sometimes of malicious and false witnesses,"
This instruction was clearly argumentative and a comment
on the evidence. It was correctly refused.

Assignment 33. The court refused to give defendant's
requested instruction number 13, reading as follows: *|
instruct you, * * * that in this case prejudice is likely
to result because of the heinous nature of the crime
charged, but you must always remember that it is an
accusation easily to be made and hard to be defendwl
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nd consider, scrutinize and weigh carefully all of the
dence in the case, uninfluenced by the character of the
me itself.”” The same comments apply as in number 32.
Assignment 34. The court gave the Territory’s re-
uested instruction number 5, reading as follows: “I
irther instruct you that a defense interposed by the
¢fendant in this case is what is known in law as an
ibi, that is, that the defendant claimed that he was at
nother place at the time of the commission of the alleged
fime, and I instruct you that such defense is as proper
nd legitimate, if proved, as any other. Such defense
inst be such as to show that at the very time of the com-
igsion of the crime charged the defendant was at an-
ther place so far away and/or under such circumstances
iat he could not, with ordinary exertion, reach the place
there the crime was committed so as to have participated
i the commission thereof.” The court also gave defend-
it’s instruction number 2, reading as follows: “You are
gtructed that the burden of proving the presence of the
¢fendant at the time and place of the alleged offense
5ts upon the Territory, and the prosecution must prove
your satisfaction and beyond a reasonable doubt that
e defendant was present at the time of the alleged com-
lission of the offense. The burden is not upon the de-
pndant to prove that he was not present.” There was
0 error in giving Territory’s instruction number 5.
Assignment 35. The court gave the Territory’s re-
nested instruction number 6, reading as follows: “The
yurt further instructs you, gentlemen of the jury, that
f you find from the evidence in this case beyond a reason-
hle doubt that any defense set up by the defendant is a
lllse and fabricated one and if you further find that such
itlse and fabricated defense was purposely and intention-
1 y invoked by the said defendant then you are instructed
that such a false and fabricated defense forms the basis
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of a presumption against him because the law says (hil
he who resorts to perjury to accomplish an end, thix Iu
against him and you may take such action as the bunln
of a presumption of guilt.” That this instruction muy
be given in a proper case, see Territory v. Wong, 30 liaw,
819. In the case at bar there was ample evidence jusli
fying the giving of this instruction.

Assignment 36 is that the court erred “in the argumenl
of the motion for a new trial to permit the proseculioi
to dispute the facts alleged in said motion and its acconi
panying affidavits after the prosecution had failed to [ile
counter-affidavits.” 'We are unable to find from (hu
record that the trial court did as charged. However Lhal
may be, in the argument of the case in this court (he
prosecution certainly did not dispute the facts alleged iu
the motion for a new trial but argued purely upon (he
showing made by that motion. ;

Assignment 37 is that the court erred “in rendering
judgment and sentence upon the guilt of the defendanl
upon said verdict as aforesaid.” This raises no question
not already considered.

It may be that the contention of the prosecution ougll
to be sustained, that many of the defendant’s assignmenin
of error are so ambiguous, insufficient and uncertain thul
they ought not to be considered. We have preferred, how
ever, to consider them all on their merits, the same resull
being thereby reached. We find no error in the recor
The judgment and the sentence are affirmed.

J. V. Hsposito (R. K. Murakami with him on (he
briefg) for plaintiff in error.

C. E. Cassidy, First Assistant Public Prosecutor (./,
C. Kelley, Public Prosecutor, with him on the briefs), lor
the Territory. :



